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IN THE UNITED STAT-ES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE .MIDllLE ])JSTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

NASHVllJLE DIVISION 

U.S. COMMODITY .FUTURES 
TRADING COMMISSION, 

PlaintifJ, 

v. 

BLUE SKY.CAl'Il'AL MANAGEMENT 
CORP. and GRI~GORY M. SCfiNEII>Ii!R, 

l>efendants. 

Civil Action No. 3:11 -cv-0754 

.Judge Nixon 

Magistrate .Judge Knowles 

CONSENT ORDER FOR PERMANENT lN;JUNCTION 
ANI> J>.ENALTIES AGAINST DEFENDANTS 

BLUE SKY CAl'lTAL MANAGEMENT CORP. AND GREGORY M. SCHNEIDER 

I. BACKGROUND 

On August 8, 20 I 1, PlaintHJ U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Comni.lssion ("CFTC" or 

"Commission") filed a Complainttbr lnjnnctive and Other Equitable Relief and Penalties Under 

the Commodity Exchange Act (''Complaint'') (Docket #1) against Defendants Blue Sky Capital 

Management Corp. ("Blue Sky") and Gregory M. Schneider ("Schneider") (collectively, 

«Defendants") secking ·injunctive and other equitable relief and penalties for violations of the 

Commodity Exchange Act ("Act''), as amehded by the Food, Conservation and Energy Act of 

2008, 1'uh. L. No. I J 0-246, TitleXUI (the CFTC Reauthoritati011Act .of2008 ("'CRA'')), 

§§ 13101-13204, 122 Stat. 1651 (enacted June 18, 2008), andtheDodd-Frank Wall Street 

Reforn1 and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-.FrankAct"), Pub. L. No. lll.;203, §§ 701-774, 

124 Stat 1376, l64I etseq. (enacted July J 6, 201 0), to he codifie~ at 7 U.S.c. §§ let seq. 



Case 3:11-cv-00754   Document 63    Filed 08/28/12   Page 2 of 16 PageID #: 238

II. CONSENTS AND A(;REEMENTS 

To effect settlement of the matters alleged in the Complaint against Defendants without a 

trial on the merits or any further judicial proceedings, Defendants, by and through their attorney 

of record: 

I. Consent to entry ofthis Consent Order for Permanent Injunction and Penalties 

Against Defendants Blue Sky Capital Management Corp. and Gregory M. Schneider ("Consent 

Order"); 

At'f1tm that they haveread and agreed to this Consent Order voluntarily, attd that 

no promise, other than as specifically contained herein, or threat has been made by the 

Commission or any member, officer, agent, or representative thereo(, or by any other person, to 

induce their consent to entry of this Consent Order; 

Acknowledge service of the summons and Complaint; 

4. Admit thejt1risdiction ofthis Court ovet them and the subject matter ofthis action 

pursuatlt to Section 6c(a) of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U . .S.C. § 13a~l(a); 

5. Admit the jurisdiction of the Commission over the conduct and transactions at 

issue in this action pursuant to Section 6c of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. 

§ l3a-l, and Section2(c)(2)(C) of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2(c)(2)(C); 

6. Admitthat venue properly lies with this Court pursuant to Section 6c(e) Qftbe 

Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §.13a-l(e); 

Waive: 

A. any and all claims they may possess under the Equal Access to Justice Act 
("EAJA"), 5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (2006), and/or the 
rules promulgated by the Commission in conformity therewith, Patt 148 of 
the Commission's Regulations ("Regulations"), 17 C.F.R. §§ 148.1 et seq. 
(2011), relating to, or arising from, this action; 
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B. any and ali claims they may possess uttder the Small Business Regulatory 
Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, Pub.l •. I04~l2l, §§ 201~253,1 tO Stat. 
857, 857-868 ( 1996), as amended by Pub. L. 1 H>-28, § .8302, 121 Stat. 
204-205 (2007), relating to, or arising fi·om, this action; 

C. any claim of Double Jeopardy based upon the institution of this action or 
the entry in this action of any order imposing a civil monetary penalty or 
any other relief: including this ConsentOrder; and 

D. My and all rights ofappeal fl·om this actiotl; 

8. Consent to the continued jurisdiction ofthis Court over them for the purpose of 

implementing and enforcing the terms and conditions of this Consent Order and ft)l' any other 

purpose relevant to this action, even if Defendants now or in the future reside outside the 

jurisdiction ofthis Court; 

9. Agree that they will not oppose enforcement of this Consent Order on the ground 

that it fails to comply with Rule 65( d) of the F edcml Rules of Civil Procedure and waive any 

objection based thereon; 

10. Agree thatneither they nor any of their agents or employees qndertheir auth9rity 

or control shall take any action or make any public statement denying, directly or indirectly, any 

allegation in the Complaint or the Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law in this Consent Order, 

or creating or tending to create the impression that the Complaint ot' this Consent Order is 

without a factual basis; provided, however, that nothing in this provision shall atlect 

Defendants': (a) testimonia.! obligations; or (b) right to take legal positions in other proceedings 

to which the Commission is not a party. Defendants shall undertake all steps necessary to ensure 

that their agents or employees undenheir authority or control under1:1tand itnd comply with this 

agreement; 

11. By consenting to the entry of this Consent Order, neither admit nor deny the 

allegations ofthe Complaint or the Findings of Fact and Conclusiotis of Law in this Consent 
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Order, except as to jurisdiction and venue, which they admit. Fmther, Defendants agree and 

intend that the allegations <>fthe Complaint and all of the Findings ofFacfand Conclusions of 

Law in.this ConsentOrder shall he taken as true and correct and be given preclusive effect, 

without furthet' PJoof, in the course of: (a) any current or subsequent bankruptcy proceeding 

filed by, on behalf ot: or against Defendants; (b J any proceeding pursuant to Section Sa ofthe 

Act, TU.S.C. § J2a (2006), and/or Part 3 of the Regtllations, 17 C.F.R. §§ J.J et seq. (20 ll ); 

and/or(c) attyproceeding to entbrce thetetms of this Consent Otder; 

12. Agree to provide immediate notice to this Courtartd the Commission by certitled 

mail, iu the. manner required by Part VI of this Consl;}nt Order, of any bankruptcy proceeding 

filed by, on behalf of, ()f against Defendants; whether inside or outside the United States; and 

t3. Agree that no provision of this Consent Order shall in any way Hmit or impair the 

ability of any other person or entity to seek any legal or equitable remedy against Qqf'endants in 

any other proceeding. 

III. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 

The Court, being fully advised in the premises, fmds thatthere is good cause for the entry 

of this Consent Order andJhat there is no just reason for delay. 'I'he Court thet•efore directs the 

entry ofthe following.Findings of Fact, Conclusions ofLaw, permanent injunction, and penalties 

pursuant to Section 6c ofthe Act, asam.ende.d, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § '13a-1, and Section 

2(6!(2) ofthe Act, as amended, to be coaified :tt 7 u,s .. c. § 2(c)(2), as set forth herein. 

THE PARTIES AGREE ANil THE COURT HEREBY FINDS~ 
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A. Findings ofFa.ct 

i. The .Parties to This Consent Order 

l4; Plaintiff U.S. Conmtodlty FuturesTr;~ding Cotumission is an independc.nt 

federal regulatory agency charged by Congress with administering and 'enforcing the Act, as 

amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq., and the Regulations promulgated thereunder, 

17 C.F.R. §§ 1.l et seq. (201 1). 

15. Defendant Blue SI~y CapitalManagement Corp. was incorporated . in Delaware 

in February 2007 and maintained a business address in Lebanon, Tennessee. Blue Sky was 

registered with the Commission as a commodity trading advisor ("CTA'') from.approximate]y 

March 27, 2007 to November 17, 2009 and as a commodity pool operator ("CPO") from 

approxin1ately November f, 2007 to November 17, 2009. 

16. Defendant Gregory M. Schneider currently tesides in BeUville, Ohio. At the 

time oftbe transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business alleged in the Complaint, 

Schneider resided in Mount Juliet, Tennessee and/or Lebanon, Tennessee. He was the sole 

pdncipal and a registered. associated person ("AP"} of Blue Sky from approximately March 27, 

2007 to November 17,2009. 

ii. Qther H.elevant I» arty 

17. The National Futures Associationis re.gisteredwith the Commission as a futures 

association pursuant to Section 17 of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 21 (2006). It serves as an industry self­

regulatory m'ganization, and itsmembetship is composed offutures .corttmission. merchants 

("FCMs''), forex dealer mem hers ("PDMs'l)1 Cf As, CPOs, introducing brokers, and other futures 

pt<)fessiormlsxegistered with the Commission. Under Commission oversight, NFA is 

responsible for celtain aspects of the regulation ofthese entities and their APs. See Regulation 
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3.75, 17 C.F.R §3.75 (2011). NFA focuses primarily on the qualifications and proficiency, 

fimHlcial coiidition, retail sales practices, ~md business conduct of its members. 

iii. llcfeudants' Course of Conduct 

18. Qn or about March 27, 2007, Blue Sky registered with the C(>mmission as aCTA, 

and Schneider registered with the Commission as Blue Sky's sole AP. In approximately March 

2007, Blue Sky began managing customer accounts at Global Futures &Forex, Ltd. ("GFT"), an 

FCMand FDM, ultim~lely managing approximately eighty accounts a.t OFT in2007 (''2007 

accounts"). The2007 accounts traded exclusively in off-excnange foreign currency('%rex'') 

contracts, received net customer deposits ofat least $1.2 miUion, and suffered net losses of 

approximately 30% of invested equity by August2007, according to latet NFA testing. 

l9. On or aboutAugust28, 2007,Defendants .notified Blue Skycustomets by e1uail 

fhatBiue Sky pJannedto change its busin.ess model fi·om a 111anaged trading program to a pooled 

fund, that Defendants would no longer trade the customer accounts at GFT, and thatcustome1·s 

would have to complete new management agreements if they wanted Blue Sky to contit1ue 

trading for them. On or aboutNovember ·l, 2007, Blue Sky registered with the Commission as a 

CPO. 

20. The owner of one ofthe 2007 accounts ("complaining customel"') received the 

A ugust28, 2007 emai I from Defendants and asked for additional information about the pooled 

fund, but he did not complete the new !'namtgement agreement. NOJletbeless, Blue Sky traded his 

account at GFT without his knowledge or consent in approximately October 2007, resulting in a 

loss ofapproximately $7,000 in his account. 

21. The C(jmplaining customer emailed Schneider on or about December 1, 2007, 

demanding to know why his account h~d been traded after the August 48,.2007 email, since he 

had not completed the new management agreement. In at least one reply email to the 
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complaining customer, Schneider promised to "fix the mistake." However, .Defendants failed to 

resolve the complaining customer's concerns to his satisfaction, and the complaining customer 

and Schneider continued t<> exchange emaiL.; about his concems J:Or more than a year. 

22. In approximately March 2008, Defendants once again began operating Blue Sky 

as aCTA and began managing new customer accoun~s atFX Solutions, LLC("FXSolutions''), 

an FC.M and•FDM ('"2008 accounts''). J3yapproximately October2008, Blue Sky wasmanaging 

approximately ten accounts. at FX Solutions with aggregate customer deposits <)fapproximately 

$20,000. Blue Sky traded the 2008 accounts exclusively in off-exchange fbrcx contmcts. 

23. On or about October 21-23, 2008, NFA conducted a routine audit of Blue Sky at 

its business address in Lcb}lJlOil, Tennessee. Tit connection with the NFA audit, NFA audifstaff 

reviewed documents and interviewed Schneidet. Atthe time, Blue Sky was registeted w•ith the 

Commissio.ll as both a CTA and CPO, although it was only doing business as a CTA, and 

Schneider was registered.with the Commission as Blue ·sky's sole AP. 

24. In connection wi.th the NF A audit; NF A audit staff asked Defendants how lnany 

customer accounts Blue Sky managed and when it began managing customer accounts. 111 

response, Defendants falsely repi'esented to NFA audit staff that Blue Sky managed the ten 2008 

accounts and had managed · customer accounts beginning it1 Match 2008, Defendants further 

f~tlsely tepresented that all of the accounts Blue• Sky managedtl'adcd exclusively in·otf.:.ex:change 

forex contracts at FX Solutions and had an aggregate equity of approximately $20,000. 

Defendants provided NFA with FX Solutions documentation regatding the 2008 accounts bt.Jt no 

documentati.on l'egardingtbe 2007 accollnts managed by Blue Sky. 

25. ltrconnection with the NFA audit. NFA $mdit staff reviewed a Blue Sky 

disclosure document that stated Blue Sky '1has been trading client funds since March 2007." 
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Because this statement contradicted the information Schneider had provided them, NFA audit 

staff brought it to · Schneider's attention during the NFA audit. Jn response" Schndder falsely 

claimed the date was merely a typo and that Blue Sky's trading of customer accounts actually 

began in March 2008. 

26. In connection with theNFA audit, NFA aud.it staff asked Defendants ifi3Juc Sky 

had received any customer complaint<;, and Defendants falsely represented to NFA audit staff 

that Slue Sky had notreceived any customer complaints. Defenqonts pmvidedNFAwith no 

documentation regarding any cqmplaints received from Blue Sky cvstomers. 

27. On or abt)Ut October 22, 2008, the second day oftheNFA audit, the cmnplaining 

customer emailed Schneider about his t~nresolved conJplaint, and Schneider sent him a reply 

Gmail , Schneider sti ll did notdjsclose the complaint to NFA, nor did he provide NFA aud.it staff 

with a copy of his email cotTespondence with the complaining customer. 

28. On or about October 23, 20Q8, the final day ofthe NFA audit, Defendants 

submitted a written represent~tion letter to NF A on Blue Sky letterhe('ld. In fhat letter, 

Defendants falsely represented to NFA that "[w]e have made available to you all . .. [c]lients' 

financial recotds, carrying broker statements, related account documentation . .. [and c]ustorner 

complaints,'' "[wJe have responded fully to all inquiries made to us by you during your audit," 

and "[w]e cettity that as o.f October 23, 2008, we rendered advisory services l(l 1 0 clients with an 

aggregate equity of approximately $20,000." Schneider signed the Jetter as Blue Sky's 

President 

29. In approximately January 2009, the complaining customer contacted NFA about 

his longstanding, yet still unresolved, Blue Sky complaintand provided NF A with copies of his 
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email correspondence with S.chneidcr, including the emaiJs exchanged. on OJ' about Octobet'22, 

2008, the second day of the NF A audit 

30. NFA determined that the complaining customer's account W(ls not among the 

2008 accounts that Defendants had disclosed to NFA in connection with the NFA audit 

31. Upon furtherinvestigation, NF A discovered the.2007 ac.counts an.d determined 

that DefendaJtts.had begun managing the 2007 accounts In apptoximately March 2007, a full 

year before the date Defetldants had clairnedBiuc Sky began trading customer accounts. NFA 

testing showed that the 2007 accolmts suffered net losses ofapproximatcly 30% of'invcsted 

equity. Therefore, by faflingto disclose the2007accounts and the customer complaint in 

connection with the NFA audit, Defendants concealed from NFAiarge customer losses in 

addition to a customer's loss resulting fl·om Blue Sky's unauthorized trading ofhis account, 

32. On or aboutJanuary 30, 2009, NF A audit staff conducted a conference call with 

Schneider about its f1ndings. Schneider falsely claimed . he did not disclose the 2007accounts in 

connection with the NFA atldit b.ecause they were "practice'' acc.ounts, even though Blue .Sky 

actually traded the 2007 accounts on behalf of customers, and even though the 2007 accounts 

suffered actual losses. Schneider further falsely claimed he did not disclose the complaining 

customer's complaint in conne.ction with ·the NJrAaudit becausehed.idnot persomdly consider it 

to be a complaint, but he offered nothing in support ofbis conclusion, 

8; Conclusions of Law 

33. Defendants violated Section 9(a)( 4) of theAct, as amended, to be codified at 

7 U.S.C. § l3(a)(4), by willfully concealfng matedal facts fi:om and/or making false, fictitious, or 

fraudulent Statements of material racts to NFA, ~rfutures association registered under the Act, in 

connection with an NFA audit of I3Iue Sky conducted in furtherance. ofNFA 's official duties 

undct the Act em or about October 21-23, 2008~ including the following: (1) misrepresenting to 

9 



Case 3:11-cv-00754   Document 63    Filed 08/28/12   Page 10 of 16 PageID #: 246

.. 

NFA thatBit~eSky only managed ten customer accounts with an aggregate. equity of 

ilpproximately $20,00:0, that Bl.ue Sky began trading custotneraccounts in March 2008, and tha.t 

Blue Sky had received no customer complaints; (2) failing to disclose to NPA that Blue Sky 

managed approximately eighty customer accounts with an aggregate equity of at least $1 .2 

million in 2007;and (3}failing to disclose to NFA that a Blue Sky customerco1np~ained to 

Defendmits about his Blue Sky acc<>unt pri()t to, and eve11 dudng, the NFA audit. 

34. Schnel.der was acting as an agent of Blue Sky when engaged in the conduct 

described in Patt IU.A ofthis Consent Ordet. Theret(>re, · BJue Sky, as his principal, .is Hable f<'n· 

the acts constituting Schneider's violations ofSection 9(a)(4) of the Act~ as amended, to be 

codit1ed at 7 U .S.C. § l3(a)( 4), as described in these Conclusions ofLaw, pursuantto Section 

2(a)(l)(B) ofthe Act, as amended, to be coditied at 7 U.S.C. § 2(a)(l)(B), and Regulation 1.2, 17 

C.F .R. § 1.2 (2011}. 

35. Schneider controlled Blue Sky and did not act in good faith or knowingly 

induced, dkectfy or indirectly, the acts constituting Blue Sky's violations as described in these 

Conclusions of Law. Schneider is therefore Hable for Blue Sky's violations ofScction9(a)(4) of 

the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S. C. § 13{a)(4), as a coutrolli11g p.erson pursuant to 

Section l3{b) .of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § l3c(b) (2006). 

36. lJnless restrained and enjoined by this Court, thel.'e is a reasonable likelihood that 

Defend!lt'lts will continue to engage hl the acts and practices alleged in the Complaint or in 

similar acts and practices that violate the Act. Futtbetrnore, the nature of Defen.qants' violations 

and the need to deter others fl·om comn!itting similar violations <>f the Act warrant the imposition 

ofa civil monetary penalty. 
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'• 

IV. PERMANENT lN.JUNCTION 

THE l'ARTlES AGREE AND IT IS HEREBY·ORDERED THAT: 

37. Based upo11 and in connection with the foregoing conduct, pursuantto Section 6c 

of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § l3a-l, Defendants are permanently 
- ' 

restrained,. enjoined, and prohibited fi·om, directly or indirectly, willfully falsifYing, concealing, 

or coveting up by any trick, scheme, or artifice a matet:ial fact, or making any false, fictitious, or 

fraudulent statements orreptesentations) or making or usitJg any false writing or document 

knowing the same to contain any false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry, to a registered 

entity, board of trade, swap data reposit01y, or fi.ltures association designated or registered under 

the Act and acting in furtherance ofits official duties under this Act; in violation of Section 

9(a)(4}ofthe Act, as amended, to he codified. at 7 U.S.G. § I 3(a)(4). 

38. Defendants arefurtherpermanentl¥restrained, enJoined~ and prohibited from 

directly ot indirectly: 

A. traqing on orsubject toJhe rules of any regi~1e1·ed entity (as that term is 
defined in Section Ia ofthe Act, as amended, to he codified at 7 U.S.C. 
§ fa)., including, but notlimited to, trading forthemselves or others; 

R entering into any transactions involving commodity futures, options on 
commodity futures, commodity options (as that term is defined in 
Regulation l.3(hh), 17 C.P.R.§ L3(hh)(:20ll)) ("commodity options''), 
security futures products, and/or foreign currency (as described in Sections 
2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, as amended, to be codified at 7 
U .S.C. §§ 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C}(i)) ("forex contracts'') f<>r their own 
personal account or tor any account in which they have a direct or indirect 

·interest; 

C. having any commodity futures, options on commodity futures, commodity 
options, security futures products, and/or forex contracts traded on their 
behalf; 

D. controlling or directing the trading for or on behalfof any other person or 
entity, whether by power of attorney or otherwise, in any account 
involving comrnodity futures, options ()Jl c<>ttJmodity fhtures, commodity 
options, security .futures products,. and/ or forex · conh:acts; 
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•, 

E. soliciting, receiving, or accepting any funds fi·om any person for the 
purpose of purchasing or selling any commodity futures~ options on 
commodity futures, commodity options, security futures products, and/or 
forcx contmcts; 

F. applying fbr registration or claiming exemption trom registration with the 
Cor)lt)lission in any capacity, and engagingin<1ny activity requiring such 
registration or exemption from registration with the Commission, except 
as provided for in Regulation 4.l4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2011); 
and 

G. acting as a principal (as. that term is gcfined in Regulation 3.1 (a), 
l7 C.P.R.§ 3.l(a)(20ll)), agent, ot·any othetofficeroremployeeofany 
pe.rson(as that term is defined in Section la of the Act,.::ls amended, to be 
codified at7 U .S.C. § Ia) registered, exempted from t:egistration, ot 
required to beregistcred with the Commission, except as provided for in 
Regulation 4.t4(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4J4(a)(9)(20l1). 

39. The injun()tive provisio~s ofP;miVofthis Consent Order•shall be binding oil all 

persons insofar as they are acting in the capacity ofDefendants' officers, agents, servants, 

employees., and attotneys, and on all persorts.insofar as they are acting in active concert or 

participation with Defendants who receive actuaLnotice of this Consent Or-der by personal 

service or otherwise. 

V. CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY 

lT JS FURTHER ORDERED THAT: 

40. Defendants shall, jointly and severally, pay a civil monetary penalty in the amount 

of omhhundt·ed forty thousaud dollars {$140,000), plus post-judgment interest, within ten (10) 

days of the date of entt'y ofthis Consent Order (''CMP Obligation"). Should Defendants n.ot 

satisfy their CMP Obligation within ten (1 0) days of the date ofentry ofthis Consent Order, 

post-j udgmentjnterest shall accrue on the CMP Obligation beginning on the dat~ of entty of this 

Consent Order and shall be detennined by using the Treasuty J3ill rate prevailing on the date of 

entry of this ConsentOrder pursua11t to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 (2006). 
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4.1. DeH:mdants shall pay the CMP Obligation by electronic funds transfer, l.J.S. postal 

money order> certified check, bank cashier's check, orbankmoncy order. If payment is to be 

made other than by electronic funds transfer, the paytnent shaH be made payable to the 0 .S. 

Commodity Futures Trading Commission and sent to the following adciTcss: 

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission 
Division .of Enforcement 
A1TN: Accounts Rcceivables-AMZ 340 
Email Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR~CFTC 
DOT/FAA/MMAC 
6500 S. MacArthur Blvd. 
Oklahoma City, OK 73169 
Telephone: (405) 954-~644 

Ifpayment by electronic funds transfer is chosen, Defendants shall contact Linda 

lurhorst or her successot at the address above to receive payment instructions and shall fully 

comply withthose instructions. Defendants shaH accompany payment of the CMP Obligation 

with a cover letter that .identifies Defendants and the name and docket number of this proceeding. 

Defendants sha11 simultaneously transmit.acopy ofthe cover lettetalld the form ofpaymentto 

the: Director, Division of Enforcement., lJ.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission. Three 

Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581; and Chief~ Office of 

Cooperative Enforcement, Division ofBnforcement, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission, at the same address. 

42. Satisfaction: Upon full satisfaction ofDefendants) CMP Obligation, satisfaction 

of judgment will be entered as to Defendants. 

43. Partial Satisfaction: Any acceptance by the Commission ofpartial payment of 

Defendants' CMP Obligation shall not be deemed a waiver <>ftheir dhligation to ma.kefurtber 

payments pursuant to this Consent Order, or a waiver ofthe Commission's rightsto seek to 

compel payment of any remaining balance. 
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VI. MISCELLANEOlJS PROVISIONS 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT: 

44. Notice: AU notices required to be given by this Consent Order shall be filed 

electronically with the Court and/or sent via certified mail, return receipt requested, as follows: 

Notice to Plaintiff Commission: 

Director of the Division ofEnforcement 
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading· Commissio11 
Three. Lafayette Centre 
1155 21st Street NW 
Washington, D.C. 20581 

and 

Stephanie Reinhart, Setlior Trial Attorney 
Division ofEnfot·cenlent 
U.S. .. (;ommodity Futures Tfading Commission 
525 West Monroe Street, Suite 1100 
Ghicago, IL 60661 

Notice to Defendants: 

Blue Sky Capital Management Corp. 
C/0 Mark T. Freeman, Esq. 
The American Center 
Tower One Suite 240 
3100 WestEiid Avenue 
Nashville, TN 32703 ' 

and 

Gregory M . . Schneider 
C/0 Mark T. Freeman, Esq. 
The American Center 
Tower One Suite 240 
3100 West End Avenue, 
NashviUe, TN 32703 

All such notices to the CommissiotJ shall reference the name and docket mtmber of this action. 

45. Change of Address/Phone: UntH such time as Detende1nts satisfy in fulLtheir 

CMP Obligation as set forth in this Consent Order, Defendants shall provjde written noticeto the 
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Commission by ceJtified mail, in the manner required by Part VI of this Consent Order, of any 

change to DefendantSchneider's telephone number and mailing addtess withinten (lO)calendar 

days of the change. 

46. .Entire Agreement andAmetldments: This ConsentOrderincotporates all of the 

tenus and conditions of the settlement among the parties hereto to date. Nothing shallserveto 

amend or modifY this Consent Order in any respect whatso-ever, unless it is: (a) reduced to 

writing; (b) signed byall patties hereto; and (c) approved hy order ofthis Court. 

47. Invalidation: If any provision of this Consent Order or if the. appl.ication ofany 

provision to a person or circumstance is held to be invalid, the remainderofthe Consent Order 

and the application of the provision .to any other person or circumstan<;e shall not be affected by 

such holding. 

48. Waiver: The failure of any party to this Consent Order at anytime to require 

petformance of any provision of this Consent Order shall in no manner affect the right of s.uch 

party at a later time to enforce the same or any other plpvis.ion ofthis Consent Order. No waiver 

tn one or more instances of the breach of any provision containe~ in this Consent Order shaH be 

deemed to be or construed as a further or continuing waivet,· of such breach or Waiver -Of the 

breach of anY other provision offhis ConscQt Ordet. 

49. Continuing Jurisdiction ofthisCourt: This Cotirt shall retain jurisdiction of this 

action to ensure compliance with this Consent Order and for a,U other purposes related to this 

action, including any motion by Defendants to modifY or for relief from the terms ofthis 

Consent Order. 

50. Injunctive Provisions: The injunctive provisions of this Consent Order shall be 

binding upon Defendants, upon any pet'son under their authot'ity or control, and upon any person 
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• 

who receives actual notice ofthis Consent Order, by personal service, email, facsimile or 

otherwise insofiu• as he or she is acting in active concert or participation with Defendants. 

51. Authority: DetendantSchneider hereby warrants that he is the President of 

Dei~ndantBh1e Sky, that this Consent Order has been duly authorized by Blue Sky, anq that he 

bas Qe(:m duly empowered to sign and submitth.is Consent Order on behalf of Blue Sky. 

$2. Counterparts and Facsithile Execution: This. Consent Order may be executed in 

two or more counterparts. all ofwhich shall be considered one and the same agteement and shall 

become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by .each ofthe parties arid 

del iv~red (by facsimile, email, or otherwise) to the rHher party. it being unde1,·stood that aJ I parties 

need not sign the sa}lle couriterpart. At,ty counterpart ot <>lhel' si gl1atote to this Consent Order 

that is delivered by facsimile or email shall be deemed .thrall ptrrposes as constitutirig good and 

valid execution and delivered by such party of this Consent Order. 

53. Defendants understand that the terms.ofthis Conset1t Order are enforceable 

thtough contempt proceedings, a11d that in any such proceedings, they .may not challenge the 

validity ofthis Consent Order. 

There being ndjust reason fiw delay, the Clerk ofthe Court is hereby directed to enter 

this Consent Order for Permanent Injunction and Penalties Agah1st Derendants Blue Sky Capital 

Manaf:,rement C<Wp. and Gregory M.Schneidet. 

IT IS SO ORilERJi:D. 
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